
CORPORATE REPORT  

NO: R021 COUNCIL DATE: February 6, 2017 

REGULAR COUNCIL 

TO: Mayor & Council DATE: January 16, 2017 

FROM: General Manager, Engineering 
General Manager, Parks, Recreation & Culture 

FILE: 1850-01 

SUBJECT: Gratitude Garden at 156 Street and King George Boulevard 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Engineering Department and the Parks, Recreation & Culture Department recommend that 
Council direct staff to undertake the necessary steps to convert the portion of road allowance 
(approximately 0.46 acres in size) located along the eastern side of 156 Street immediately north of 
King George Boulevard to “parkland”. 

BACKGROUND 

In 2007, the City acquired a parcel of land at 2248 King George Boulevard (the “Property”), which was 
originally 1.00 acre in size as generally illustrated on the attached Appendix “I”, in order to facilitate 
the realignment of 156 Street at the intersection of King George Boulevard.  The realignment of 
156 Street was an essential public safety project undertaken to enhance the geometry of the prior 
intersection.  Upon finalizing the realignment of 156 Street, a 0.46 acre remnant area of dedicated road 
allowance remained (the “Remainder Land”) along the eastern side of 156 Street immediately north of 
King George Boulevard. 

Subsequent to the 156 Street road realignment project being completed, several South Surrey 
residents, including Mr. Arian Bilodeau, devoted considerable time and resources on a volunteer basis 
in establishing a “pocket garden” upon the Remainder Land, firstly as a memorial, and thereafter as a 
neighbourhood “community garden”.  On May 25, 2015, City Council approved a Community 
Enhancement Partnership Grant for the Gratitude Garden Project, pursuant to Regular Council 
Corporate Report No. R092;2015 attached to this report as Appendix “II”.  The community garden 
concept at this location has also been endorsed by the prior City Mayor, Dianne Watts, in 
November 2012, as noted in the letter attached to this report as Appendix “III”. 

DISCUSSION 

In response to inquiries from several potential buyers as to the possible sale of the Remainder Land, 
and because the Remainder Land was not designated or identified for parkland purposes, Realty staff 
initiated its standard due-diligence process to assess whether the Remainder Land would be a 
candidate for a sale to the market at-large.  Part of the due-diligence process included the 
investigation of potential land-use development concepts considering that the Remainder Land is 
designated commercial in the King George Highway/Highway 99 Corridor Local Area Plan.  
Communication by staff with Mr. Bilodeau resulted in Mr. Bilodeau expressing considerable concern 
about the possible future sale of the Remainder Land.  Subsequent to this expression of concern by Mr. 
Bilodeau, appreciation of Mr. Bilodeau’s longstanding beautification efforts at the Gratitude Garden 
have been further articulated by members of the public.   
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While the Remainder Land is not currently identified within the City’s Park Program, nor currently 
titled as an existing legal lot, staff are recommending that the potential sale of the Remainder Land no 
longer be explored and that the status quo of the Remainder Land be maintained, while the following 
steps, as outlined below, are undertaken: 
 

1. Staff to bring forward a Bylaw to close and remove the dedication as highway of the portion of 
road allowance located along the eastern side of 156 Street immediately north of King George 
Boulevard, subject to compliance with the advertising requirements of the Community Charter 
legislation; 

2. That the new lot, once created, be designated for “parkland” purposes; and 
3. That the new lot, once created, be converted from a transportation asset to a park asset. 

 
Parks, Recreation & Culture Department Comments 
 
Parks staff have reviewed the potential for the Remainder Land to be converted to parkland.  The 
City’s Mini Park and Plaza Policy outlines criteria to plan and design smaller parks, as pressure on 
existing parkland increases.  The following points arise from that policy: 
 

At 0.46 acres in size, the Remainder Land is slightly under the minimum size of 0.7 acres, as 
identified in the Policy; 
The Remainder Land has good sightlines with a long frontage from 156 Street; 
The Remainder Land is in an area with moderate density that is experiencing infill 
development, further increasing the density; and  
The closest parks are Jessie Lee and Sunnyside Parks, which are 1,000 metres away from each 
other.  The Remainder Land is sited approximately halfway between each park which helps 
fulfill having a park within walking distance (400 - 500 metres) for local residents. 

 
It is beneficial when residents help identify and champion possible parkland.  Advocacy and 
engagement are key indicators of a healthy community, and it is important for the City to support 
engaged neighbourhoods. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
Based on the public support of the Gratitude Garden, staff recommend that Council direct staff to 
undertake the necessary steps to convert the portion of road allowance (approximately 0.46 acres in 
size) located along the eastern side of 156 Street immediately north of King George Boulevard to 
“parkland”. 
 
 
 
Fraser Smith, P.Eng., MBA    Laurie Cavan 
General Manager,     General Manager, 
Engineering      Parks, Recreation & Culture 
 
NR/amg/cc 
 
Appendix “I” - Aerial Photograph of Site 
Appendix “II” – Corporate Report No. R092;2015 
Appendix “III” – Letter of support by prior City Mayor, Dianne Watts, dated November 8, 2012 
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REGULAR COUNCIL 
 
TO: Mayor & Council DATE: May 12, 2015 
 
FROM: General Manager, Parks, Recreation and Culture 

General Manager, Finance and Technology 
 

FILE: 1850-01 

SUBJECT: Community Enhancement Partnership (CEP) Program Grant Applications – 
Gratitude Garden Project  

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Parks, Recreation & Culture Department and the Finance & Technology Department 
recommend that Council approve the following grant recommendation: 
 

A CEP Program grant of up to $3,000 to the “Gratitude Garden” Project at 156 Street and 
King George Boulevard. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
In January 2010 Council adopted the Community Enhancement Partnership (CEP) Program, 
which is intended to provide financial support for projects focussed on community engagement 
and neighbourhood beautification.  Under the CEP Program, residents and community groups 
may apply to the City for a grant under either of two separate categories; these being:  
 

Small Project Grants - to support in planning, organizing and implementing projects 
intended to directly improve the physical aesthetic appeal of a neighbourhood; or  

 
Partnership Grants - to support projects that build community relationships through 
celebration and activity.  

 
The CEP Program Guidelines are attached as Appendix I.  The CEP Program has an annual 
budget of $25,000. 
 
The community has been notified of this program through stakeholder mail-outs, newspaper ads, 
press releases, promotional posters at civic facilities and on the City’s website.  A Grant Selections 
Committee has been established with representatives from various Departments and is 
responsible for assessing grant applications that are received under the Program.  Sixty five (65) 
CEP Program grants have been approved to date by City Council. 
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The following sections of this report provide a description and evaluation of an application for a 
grant under the CEP Program that was recently received by the City. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Gratitude Garden at 156th Street and King George Boulevard 
 
Over the past seven years, two South Surrey residents have created a pocket garden on City road 
Right of Way at 156th Street and King George Boulevard.  (Appendix II).  The garden has become 
a popular gathering space for local community members and has been noted in the media 
“bringing pleasure to hundreds of neighbours in the area.”  The City had been considering selling 
this surplus Road Right of Way property, but when made aware of the importance of this site to 
the community, staff decided to maintain the status quo until further development in the area. 
 
The residents would like to continue to expand the garden site and further involve the 
community in the planting and maintenance of the site.  They estimate the cost for plants, 
supplies and materials for the garden at $3,000.  The funding will be used to purchase trees, 
perennials, annuals and bulbs as well as garden tools and supplies.  The required tools include a 
wheelbarrow, soaker hose, fertilizer, lawn seed, loppers, lawnmower parts, shovel, gloves and 
plant tape to help with garden maintenance.  The residents will also be fabricating a welcome sign 
for the garden that will be reviewed by the City before installation. 
 
The residents volunteer over 300 hours per year in the garden and intend to host a “Gratitude 
Garden Blitz Day” to encourage local neighbours to get involved in the garden project.  The 
residents will be visiting local housing co-ops and nearby seniors’ residence to help enlist garden 
volunteers.  
 
Based on a review of the project according to the CEP Program criteria, a grant of up to $3,000 for 
the Gratitude Garden at 156th  Street and King George Boulevard is considered reasonable, subject 
to the group submitting photographs documenting the progress and outcomes of the project.  
 
Funding 
 
Appendix III provides information on the status of funding related to the Community 
Enhancement Partnership Program based on an assumption that Council will approve the 
recommendations of this report. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The CEP Program supports the goals of the City’s Sustainability Charter by encouraging social 
connections, volunteerism, community ownership and citizen engagement, in accordance with 
the Sustainability Charter Goals SC 6, 7, 8 and 13. 
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CONCLUSION 
 
Based on the above discussion, it is recommended that Council approve a CEP Program grant of 
up to $3,000 for the “Gratitude Garden” project at 156 Street and King George Boulevard.   
 
 
 
 
  
Laurie Cavan     Vivienne Wilke, CPA, CGA 
General Manager    General Manager    
Parks, Recreation and Culture   Finance and Technology 
 
 
Appendix I: CEP Program Overview and Guidelines 
Appendix II: Project Details and Location 
Appendix III:  Status of Community Enhancement Partnership Program Funding 
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A P P E N D I X  I  
CEP Program Overview and Guidelines 
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APPENDIX II  
Project Details and Location 

 
 

  

 

This image shows 
the planted border 
along 156 St. The 
border was created 
over 7 years with 
the residents 
growing hundreds 
of annuals and 
perennials from 
seed. 
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APPENDIX III  
 Status of Community Enhancement Partnership Program Funding

 




